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The Tong-va of Puvungna

Indians once roamed the land

where Hawaiian Gardens now stands

Walking down Carson Street — or almost any street in
southern California — it's hard to imagine there was ever
anything else besides asphalt, traffic and the bustling
business of ‘“California Living.”

But if you could stand on the corner of Carson and Norwalk
and wind Time back about 300 years, you'd find yourself in a
land almost impossible to recognize.

You'd be standing in a wooded marsh, and you’d have to
keep a sharp eye out for prowling grizzly bears! Birds and
small animals would be abundant, and if you looked south
between the trees, you might be able to catch a glimpse of
smoke from the cooking fires of the village of Puvungna.

It would be easy to find a trail leading to Puvungna, near
where Cal. State, Long Beach now stands, because the
Indians that lived there often came to Hawaiian Gardens to
hunt. On the Bloomfield Park side of Pioneer Boulevard it’'s
still possible to find discarded shells from an ancient lunch,
or perhaps an unwanted stone utensil or a dulled obsidian
arrow point.

Following the trail to the village, you would come to a large
cluster of sturdy branch and leaf huts — and a sturdy,
handsome people that called themselves Tong-va. You would
be in no danger because the Tong-va Indians, or the
Gabrielions as they were later to be called, were peaceful

The general area where the Gabrielino Indians lived.

and tfolerant of strangers. You would find no metal in the
village because their culture never progressed further than
the Stone Age. But you would find beautiful baskets crafted
with a skill unequaled by any other culture. You would find
strong bows braced with sinew and sharp chert and obsidian
knives and arrow points. You‘d also find many stone articles
and preserved foods that originated as far away as San
Clemente Island and the mountains to the east. The Tong-va
were brisk traders.

If you could talk to the Tong-va, they might explain — with
understandable pride — that their village was the holy center
of the story of how the world was created for Indians all along
the coast. And if they told you the story, you would be
surprised at how closely it followed the story in the Bible. The
village elders might recount stories of the Tong-va coming
from the east long ago, and of distant relatives that hunted
buffalo on great plains. Or other cousins that built pueblos in
the desert. Younger villagers would probably just scoff, and
point out that for generations as far back as anyone could
remember — or remember hearing of — the Tong-va were
born, lived and died near Puvungna. The Tong-va were not
wanderers. No one would know for sure because the Tong-va
had no formal written language.

You probably could not help noticing that some qualities of
life for the Indians were not too different from life for
Californians today. There were plenty of neighbors. Our state
supported an Indian population larger than any area of the
same size in the United States — about 30 per cent of the
Indians that lived in the United States.

And sunbathing was a respectable and often practiced
occupation. You might even hear of some Indians joyously
planning a trip to relax and bathe in the nearest warm
spring.

The Tong-va were a gentle, intelligent people who learned
to take from the land without destroying it. They lived in
peace, in an unchanging culture, for more time than they
could remember. But Time had some changes in store for the
Tong-va.

On the way back to the present day, if you could slow the
clock down again to a little over two hundred years ago, you
might possibly witness the first meeting of the Tong-va and
the Spaniards.

The Indians were terrified when they first saw the
Spaniards on horseback. They thought they were gods and
quickly put out all fires while the women ran to hide in the
brush. When one of the visiting ““gods’’ produced flint and
steel to strike a spark, and then began smoking, the Indians
were convinced they were in the presence of beings closely
related fo the “‘Giver of Life."”

The awe of the Tong-va for the Spaniards was soon
shattered. One of the soldiers took his musket and killed a
bird. The Indians were frightened by the sound and fire of the
musket, but were instantly convinced the Spaniards were
mortal. It was impossible for the ‘Giver of Life’’ to murder
animals the way the Indians did with their bows and arrows.
The Spaniards must be merely men, of a nasty white color
and having ugly blue eyes.

The Indians called them Chichinabros, or ‘‘reasonable
beings.’”” The Tong-va were so impressed with the Spaniards
that when they acquired tools and instruments of Spanish
metal, they called them Chichinabros too.

The Indians’ first contact with the Spaniards was a short
and peaceful one, so the Spaniards were not disliked. But it
would not be long before peaceful contacts and liking for the
Spaniards would be two things in short supply.



“*jaed ple1woo|g §0 UOKINIJSUOD 3y} BuLINp PUNoy SjoRIIE URIpU|




(I1'H 12uBis jo Aj1D 30 AS3JuN0D)) -2jeandde PaJapisuod 3JE SIALIEPUNOq pue SaWeu ay | ‘gegl inoqe ajep o} pajewyysa dew jueab-pue) ysiueds umetp-puey y

Y ..u.» E =%
R TS nﬂ” — B -y
- = g A

e 3 \\.&h’ku

e .2
~
-

*\
-
-—T—-

-
- - —

o
—_—
Ll
e N
—
=3
e
Jt\b

- R L TR 8

Py
rl

b d

o,

10



W

.:‘ |
;ll.‘.l"',w'f A
LA .&\.‘i | i

(e
W?l

i : \\

Portuguese navigator Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo was the
first European to sight California‘s coast while searching for
a water route to Asia in 1542. He supposedly stopped at San
Pedro Bay, naming it Bahia a Los Fumos, or "“Bay of
Smokes,’’ because of the numerous signal and hunting fires
of the Indians’ there.

There were several later attempts to discover sound
achorages along the coast, and the Spanish made several
land expeditions searching for treasure. There were Indian
tales of golden cities and E| Dorado, the golden king whose
subjects covered him with gold dust every morning. The
Spanish had great hopes for California at first, but all
expeditions met disappointment and hardship. Some rumors
of treasure were even deliberate attempts by the Indians to
send the Spanish to their deaths. It was not until 1769, with the
Portola-Serra expedition, that an y serious attempt was
made to settle California. The Spanish considered California
a cruel land.

The Portola-Serra expedition was a ‘‘sacred expedition”
planned to turn the Indians into Franciscan converts. The
Spanish considered the Indians worthy of protection, ad-
mitted they had souls to save, and expected them to toil for
almost no wages for the priviledge of joining the Spanish
church.

In the face of tremendous physical hardship, disease and
death, Captain Gaspar de Portola and Father Junipero Serra
established a mission in San Diego in 1769. One was founded
in Monterey in 1770 and another in San Gabriel in 1771. The
San Gabriel mission was the one from which the Gabrielino
Indians of Los Angeles County would be named.

The Indians were reluctant to accept the gift of religion and
had to be ’‘persuaded’’ to become converts. The “‘per-
suaders’’ were usually a ragged band of misfits that called
themselves soldiers, and cared little about methods. The
procedure at the San Gabriel mission was to go on ex-
peditions after converts. They would collect a group of
reluctant Neophies and drive them back to the mission.

The Indians under eight years of age would be baptised.
Infants were left with their mothers, but all other youngsters
were separated from their parents, so as not fo be con-
taminated. This eventually led to the women consenting fo
the rite of baptism to be reunited with their children. And
ultimately the men would relent to regain their families.
Marriages were then performed and the Indians became
converts and ‘‘brand new’’ churchgoers.

The Indians knew virtually nothing of the religion forced
upon them, because their Spanish usually consisted of no
more than Amar a Dios. Their religion consisted of being
able to cross themselves, with the vague impression it had
something to do with hard work and harder punishment. The

Helmets and Crosses

The European comes to California

with a strong arm...and salvation

11

priest in general could speak none of the Indians’ language,
so the Indians became not much more than slaves, with
chains and beatings awaiting deserters.

About that time, in 1784, the land where Hawaiian Gardens
now stands came under Spanish ownership with a massive
300,000 acre land grant to Corporal Manuel Nieto. Nieto
developed his land into six rancheros and prospered as a
cattle and horse rancher. After Nieto’s death in 1804, his
children divided the massive grant. The land changed hands
several times in the course of a few years — sometimes
under shady circumstances.

California was a rough land in the early 1800's, and shady
circumstances were not unusual. In 1833, the Mexican
government, which was now free of Spain and the new
owners of California, passed a Secularization Bill in an effort
to improve the Indian conditions. The bill’s intent was to
return the wealth and property of the missions back to the
Indians, but it actually had little real effect.

Richard Dana, who visited California as a sailor in 1835-36
and recorded his experiences in his book “Two Years Before
the Mast,”” described the plight of the Indians as little better
than before the Secularization Bill was passed. The priests
were forced back into a purely religious role, but the wealth
of the missions generally landed in the hands of civil servants
sent from Mexico to supervise the transfer.

While anchored at San Pedro, the port of the Pueblo de Los
Angeles, Dana heard of a case which illustrated the
lawlessness of the land. A Spaniard who had quarreled with a
New England resident entered his enemy’s home one evening
and murdered him while the victim’s family watched. Other
New England settlers seized the Spaniard and confined him
until word could be had from the governor-general. The
governor-general refused to act, so the New Englanders
joined with a band of Kentucky hunters in the vicinity and
took over Los Angeles. They tried and executed the murderer
according to their own laws and the incident progressed no
further.

Dana also noted that crimes against the Indians went
virtually unpunished, while an Indian that committed a
crime was swiftly and cruelly put to justice. Dana had little
regard for the people he met in California, calling the men
“thriftless, proud and extravagant’’ and the women having
“but little virtue.”

The gentle, peaceful Gabrielino Indians, according to
Dana, had become drunkards and frequently the men sold
their wives for temporary use to the American sailors. It was
estimated that the Gabrielinos numbered about 5,000 in 1770,
but their numbers were drastically reduced with the coming
of the European. The Spanish were cruel masters and
brought many diseases to which the Indians had no
resistance. Within a generation, the Gabrielino Indians as a

culture wouid virtually disappear.
Even the face of the land had changed. Puvungna, by the
1830’s, was gone. So were most of the marshlands. Travelers
in the stagecoach era were already describing the transit
from San Pedro to Los Angeles as a trip across plains. The
forests had disappeared!

In disgust, Dana had described Californians as being
infected with ‘’California fever,’’ or laziness. But change was
in store for California in general and the Hawaiian Gardens
area specifically. The Spanish dream of treasure in
California was about to come true ... and a new “'California
fever’’ was about to infect the country!



The Rush to Riches

The Spanish dream of riches
in California comes true

The chunk of land where Hawaiian Gardens is today stayed
much the same for a long time. It was wooded marsh where
people came to hunt, or water their horses and cattle. Some
people referred to it as ““The Delta” and although its
ownership changed hands frequently, nothing much was
done to change its wild state.

There was plenty, however, happening around ‘‘The
Delta’ and in other parts of the state that would eventually
cause changes of which few people dreamed.

A soft, shiny metal had a lot to do with the change. Gold in
California was an old Spanish dream, and it is odd they found
none in California when they were so successful elsewhere in
the world. The first recorded gold strike in the Golden State
was actually in 1842 at Placerita Creek, about 35 miles
northwest of Los Angeles. A rancher named Francisco Lopez
pulled up some wild onions and found particles of gold among
the roots. An attempt was made to mine the area, but the
strike was small and soon petered out.

Then, in 1848, nine days before Mexico ceded California to
the United States as a result of war, James Marshal found
that famous nugget in the race at Sutter’s Mill in the foothills
of the Sierra Nevadas east of Sacramento. Sutter tried to
keep the discovery quiet in an effort to finish construction of
his saw mill, but it wasn‘t long before the rush was on!

At first, the news of gold in California was taken with a
grain of salt. It was laughed off as a new version of the old
Spanish dream. But when the glitteringly real thing started
trickling in from the foothills, virtually everybody caught a
new ‘‘California fever!’

It’s hard today to imagine the effect "‘gold fever’ had.
Husbands left their families. Soldiers and sailors deserted
and headed for the gold fields. A San Jose jailer wanted to go
too, but had 10 Indian prisoners in his charge. There was no
one around to turn them over to ... everyone had left for the
mines. So the jailer left too, taking his prisoners with him and
putting them to work in the fields to make him rich.

In little more than a year, the foothills of the Sierras would
be swarming with people looking for quick riches. But in the
southern part of the state, near the first gold discovery,
another way to riches was being discovered. The miners had
to eat! And they would pay high prices for cattle.

The land in southern California was still in the hands of
only a few people; the giant Spanish land grants were just
beginning to break up. The few land owners prospered with
the demands for beef from up north, but when the gold rush
came to a sudden end in 1857, most land owners found
themselves overspent and deeply in debt.

The solution most found to get out from under the bills was
to subdivide their acres. People were lured to the Southland
by the availability of land bought cheap on the installment
plan. By the end of the Civil War, the area around Hawaiian
Gardens consisted of small farms raising grain instead of
cattle.

In 1867-68, even the face of the land took on a change. In a
tremendous flood lasting two weeks, the San Gabriel River
ripped and flooded the land in search of a new course for
itself, finally resting in the bed it now follows. The “‘old** San
Gabriel became known as the Rio Hondo. Rescuers from

sale. (Courtesy of the City of Norwalk).

In the mid-1800’s, the huge Snanish.land—crants were beginning to break up.  This 1871 map shows sections of land for
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ELITE GALLERY!

The first front page of the Los Angeles Times, dated December 4, 1881.

Wilmington were able fo row as far upriver as the La Puente
foothills on mercy missions.

As late as 1881, Los Angeles was nothing more than a sleepy
pueblo village of about 13,000. The Los Angeles River ran dry
most of the year and the villagers got their water from a few
shallow wells.

That’s what a man named Harrison Gray Otis found that
year when he arrived. Otis saw a great future in the Los
Angeles area and wanted to be a part of it. His first step was
to buy a $5,000 quarter interest in the newly established Los
Angeles Times.

By 1884 he was helping to organize the Times-Mirror
Corporation with a capital stock of $40,000. He became
president and general manager of the company two years
later, and held that title until his death.

Otis envisioned Los Angeles as a great city, and had a strong
drive to see his vision a reality. In 1882 he launched a
virtually one-man campaign to bring people to the area. He
mailed thousands of free copies of the Times to people in the
East and write to Civil War veterans urging them to come to
Los Angeles with the promise of inexpensive land.

He also got some unexpected help — the railroads. At the
time, the Southern Pacific and the Atchison, Topeka and
Santa Ferail lines were in bitter competition for passengers.
The more passengers, the more government money and land
given to the railroads. They started undercutting each
other’s fares, and it reached the point that, in 1886, people
from the Missouri Valley could purchase a ticket to southern
California for one dollar!

All the while, Otis was predicting a population for Los
Angeles of 50,000 at “‘no distant day.”” Otis put out a call for
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men of “‘brains, brawn and guts!’’ He wanted “men of little
capital and a good deal of energy — first class men.”’

What Otis got was a land boom and thousands of fly-by-
night speculators hoping to make a fast fortune in real estate.
Within months the price of land rose 300 percent and within
three years the population of Los Angeles rose to 100,000.

Mythical municipalities sprang up at such rapid rate that
speculators were hard pressed to think up new names.
Supposedly, a gentleman who’s name is lot to history, put the
first and last letters of the alphabet together with U.S.A. and
came up with the town of Azusa! Land advertisements
described California land in such shameless prose that it
makes today’s hard-sell pitches for desert land seem low-
key. Some ads were even written in verse.

Despite Otis’ dream, few of the speculators that came to
California had any intention of staying past the possibility of
a fast buck. Itall came crashing down in 1888 when the banks
stopped loans on any real estate outside the heart of the city.
In two years, the population of Los Angeles shrunk to 50,000.
Otis’ faith remained unshaken however. He kept pushing
southern California as a land of opportunity with “‘special
editions’’ of the Times, and helped form a Chamber of
Commerce to build up the agriculture and industry of the
area.

It worked. By the turn of the century, the population of Los
Angeles was again over 100,000 and the whole area was
bursting with optomistic activity. *’The Delta’’ now known as
Hawaiian Gardens sat relatively unchanged through all this
activity. But land in southern California can not sit idle for
long, and the citizens of the lower part of the state were soon
to discover a wealth under the soil that would be longer
lasting that the gold mines up north. And “’The Delta’ would
come to be known as ‘‘Hawaiian Gardens.”



Moonshine and Qil

Hawaiian Gardens gets a name and

oil speculators get rooked!

It was in 1927 that the same ‘‘Hawaiian Gardens’’ first
came to be associated with this area. And all the credit
belongs to a fruit stand owner of shady reputation.

In those days, a trail followed Coyote Creek and travelers
going north or south on horseback used it frequently. An
enterprising businessman built a shack near what is now the
corner of Norwalk Boulevard and Carson Street as a way-
stop for those travelers. It was just a bamboo frame covered
with palm fronds, with two palm covered outhouses in the
back! He called it Hawaiian Gardens!

It was a 1920’s version of today’s fast-food drive-ins, serving
soda pop and sandwiches ... but with a slightly different
twist. Rumor has it that if you made a special request, your
soft drink could be hardened up a bit with a little homemade
““moonshine.”” Those were the days of Prohibition, and while
Elliot Ness was busting beer kegs in Chicago, Hawaiian
Gardens farmers were punching up their punch with a little
“hootch.”” Legend has it that many a traveler ... after a brief
interlude at the Hawaiian Gardens stand ... would return the

of Norwalk)
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way they came, though not quite as steadily. The prosperous
little stand disappeared after the repeal of Prohibition, but
the name ‘“Hawaiian Gardens’’ stayed on.

Around the turn of the century, Hawaiian Gardens was still,
for the most part, an unsettled area. there were a few farms,
and the wooded marsh that stood for so long was beginning to
disappear. The only police protection available was a handy
loaded pistol, and a bucket of water near the door served as
the fire department.

Frederick ‘’Sheep’” Smith owned about 360 acres in the
vicinity of Norwalk Boulevard and Carson Street at the time,
and — true to his nickname — grazed flocks of sheep there.
According to his Grandson, John, who was born here in 1911,
Sheep Smith drove his flock to markets as far away as San
Francisco, grazing all the way and taking three months!
John’s father later donated a whole block of that same land
for the Bloomfield School. It was qood land to keep sheep on,
but it wouldn’t be long before the price of Smith’s land would
skyrocket because of what might be under it, not on it!

Even during the days of the Indians, the land around
Hawaiian Gardens was desirable, but in the early 1900s
people began suspecting there was something underneath the
land that was even more attractive: oil!

The Indians knew of the oil. They called the thick, asphalt-
like stuff that bubbled up from the ground capatote. They
used it to waterproof baskets and join arrow points to shafts.
The Spanish used it to waterproof their roofs, and a few
people in the missionary era distilled kerosene from it to use
in lamps. But nobody seriously started looking for oil until
1916.

In that year, the Union Oil Company sank a well on Signal
Hill. It spurred some minor land speculafion in this area but
most people lost money. Union Qil lost too, when they gave up
in disgust after drilling to almost 3,500 feet without a strike. It
was not until 1921 that the Royal Dutch Shell company
punched through to 3,114 feet and brought the first gusher in
on Signal Hill. It blew high, wide and out of control for almost
two days before being capped.

Meanwhile, north of the Hawaiian Gardens area, people
were looking for water to relieve a shortage. They sank test
wells in 1922 ... and came up with oil instead! Another rush to
riches in California was on!

People sped to the oil fiends in search of the high wages the
oil companies were paying. It was hard work, though, and
there was a constant danger of fire. James Anderson, a
farmer who came to the Hawaiian Gardens area in 1921,
remembered one fire.

““We woke up about three o’clock one morning,” he said,
““and this area was just as light as day ! A gas well had caught
on fire. Boy, was it a sight!’” There were many fires after
that, but the smell of oil was the smell of money ... and the
smell of smoke was not strong enough to mask it.

Before long, promoters were buying up land, subdividing it
and selling it to people looking for their own ’black gold.”

The Smith land was subdivided into small oil lots going for
real estate outfit went as far as to erect an office near where
the Hawaiian Gardens refreshment stand would be later to
help sell lots. According to residents at the time, there were
women singing, Hollywood personalities putting on shows,
and free coffee for everybody. They say it was quite a deal to
sell lots on those days!



-Dapper Dans in the early 1900’s (top, left) ; “Pop’ Furgeson milking his cow despite the floods (top, right) ; the Hawaiian
Gardens fruit stand from which the city got its name (above.)

But the lots were no deal. There was no oil under Hawaiian
Gardens, and those high priced pieces of land later were
picked up for taxes for as little as $10. A lot of money changed
hands, but the land changed very little.

By the late 1920’s, Hawaiian Gardens was still an
agricultural area and sparsely populated. Norwalk
Boulevard was paved with funds from a state bond issue n
1913, but all other roads were dirt. Mrs. Olie Peel, who came
to Hawaiian Gardens with her husband in 1928, recalls how
undeveloped the area was. “We bought a little lot on the
corner of what is now Wardman and Brittan,’” she said. *’We
built our house in ‘28, and there were only three houses on
that side of Norwalk Boulevard.’*
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Water was gotten by artesian wells, and when the sugar
factory in Los Alamitos was producing, the wells would not
flow. The farmers then used windmills to pump the water up.

The land was low and floods were something to live with, but
most of the time the San Gabriel River was not more than a
ditch. The area was not much more than a group of small,
prosperous dairy farms.

The discovery of oil had brought workers and their families
to this area, and started it growing. But the growth in the
prosperous Twenties would be nothing compared to the
growth in the early Thirties when the country would be in the
iron grip of the Depression.



The Land Chose the People

Hawaiian Gardens grows as inexpensive
land offers a cure for The Depression

When the stock market shattered to bits
in October, 1929, many people found their
hopes and dreams shattered with it.
Financial security became a thing of the
past for many — and millions pulled up
stakes to begin looking for it. California, a
land of promise since the gold rush,
became the destination for thousands of
rootless people. They headed for the Coast
to find the jobs, the money ... even the way
of life that seemed to have disappeared
overnight.

Hawailan Gardens was a small, rural
community of dairy and truck farms at the
time. Roads were poor and electricity was
rare. But land was inexpensive and crops
could be grown on it.

Jack Myers and his family came to
Hawaiian Gardens in 1936 when he was a
small boy. ““| can remember when there
weren’t too many streets,”” he said, ‘‘not
even dirt ones. The biggest reason that the
area grew like it did, though, was because
property was so cheap. | don’t think the
people really chose the area as much as
the area chose the people. Lots sold for
$10.00 and there was a large flux of people
trying to get over the Depression. They
moved out here because they did not have
any money to speak of and they could buy
cheap. They were looking for a place to go.
| think it was a matter of circumstance.”

The circumstance looked pretty grim to
some people, but Hawaiian Gardens was
attracting a brand of new-comer with the
same spirit that pioneered the West a
century before. "’"We moved here in Oc-
tober, 1937,” Evelyn Rodgers remembers.
“IIl never forget it. We were here about
two weeks and we had a flood. The water
ran in one door and out the other. We
moved into an 18'x2é’ house and we had
five rooms of furniture and a piano. You
have to know how crowded we were! We
had electricity, but no gas. | had to boil
water out on an open fire to do my
washing. | can tell you we really
pioneered.”

Bea Harder, another long-time resident,
also remembers the early days of
Hawaiian Gardens. "'l guess we came here
for the same reason everyone else did,”
she said. ""We were broke. We found a
piece of property out here that was ad-
vertised and came out and looked at it. My
husband said, ‘You don’t want that!’ |
said, ‘Yes, | think | do.”” He thought | was
crazy because it looked like a wilderness,
but | felt that with a little hard work, we
might accidentally make something out of
Ii!!l’

Long days of hard work were like the
reoccurring floods ... you just had to get
used to them. There were few jobs and

soil grew record crops.
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Horses were valuable work animals (top) but they were great to play with too. In fact, even the reoccuring floods couldn‘t
keep Hawaiian Gardens residents down for long. It was a perfect chance to posewith your boat (above.)

even less money. But there were good times too. Hawaiian
Gardens had the close, friendly atmosphere of a small
community, with plenty of space in which to play.

““We really had a closeness in this area,’”” Mrs. Rodgers
said. “"Everyone was neighborly where we lived. We made
layettes for needy families. A mother could start brand new
with her baby from what the neighbors did. If you needed
anything, all you had to do was call on your neighbors.’’

Jack Burson, who came to Hawaiian Gardens in the
Thirties, still remembers the joys of country living. “We had
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a lot of fun in these big fields,” he said. ""We played with
horses and raced horses. There wasn’t as much crime then,
and our girls used to catch the bus in Lakewood to downtown
Long Beach and go roller skating. We had a lot of fun as a
family.”

Edmond Roah, who also moved here with his family in the
late Thirties, remembers the fun he had as a boy playing with
the cows and horses. But he also remembers his family not
having a handy water supply. “We used to have to carry
water for about a block,”” he said, "‘from 223rd Street all the
way down to 221st Street.”” Hawaiian Gardens during the
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When Hawaiian Gardens Mayor Jack Myers was just a lad (above) in 1942,
Hawaiian Gardens was still a rich agricultural area.
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Depression may have been fun, but it was
still a struggle.

Not only did the people of Hawaiian
Gardens have to struggle to put food on the
table, they sometimes had to struggle to
find a place to put the table! Venn
Furgeson and his wife, Gladys, put their
table down in Hawaiian Gardens — under
precarious circumstances — in 1939. ““We
were living in Bellflower,”” Venn said,
““and my Dad was the kind of guy that was
always out hustling, trying to make a
dollar. He and Gladys went out day after
day and finally came back with what they
said was a bargain. | asked them where it
was and they told me they didn‘t know!
There were no streets and no signs ... but it
was in the country and they were sure I'd
like it. And they said we could buy it for
practically no money down!"’

“That was $35.00 down,”” Gladys
recalled. ““It had no bathroom and we had
to paint and plaster the walls. It didn't
have a water heater either, so | bought one
for 35 cents. We built on a bathroom and
fixed it up. The water heater was still
working when they tore down our house to
build the Furgeson School in about 1966.”

People came to the Hawaiian Gardens
area during the time of unrest the
Depression caused. But other forces were
causing unrest at that time ... and not just
for people. It happened on Friday, March
10, 1933. It was a stagnant, overcast day
just turning into evening. All of a sudden
the earth moved!

*“My sister and | were living together
then,”” John Smith said. ""We were eating
and all at once everything moved. It was
just as if someone had gotten hold of the
table cloth and shook it and pulled it off!"

It was a grinding, ripping 13-second jolt
that measured 6.3 on the Richter scale.
One of California’s major natural
disasters of the century, it killed 59 people
in Long Beach, the city hit hardest. The

injured numbered in the hundreds.

Because of Hawaiian Gardens’ fewer
buildings and further distance from the

epicenter, the damage was considerably

less. But panic ran high anyway. Few
people slept in their houses for nights to
come, fearing another trembler. Several
families from the area even packed up and
fled to the mountains.

By the beginning of the following week,
order was restored, reconstruction had
begun, and Hawalian Gardens residents
were getting back to their daily routines.
There were jobs to do or jobs to seek.
There were crops and animals that had to
be raised to eat or sell. And you could
always make some extra money by
hauling out a hapless motorist stuck in the
muddy roads.

As the year 1940 approached, Hawaiian
Gardens’ spurt of growth due to the
Depression leveled off. But there was
change in the wind again. Before long, the
United States Navy would all but be
destroyed in a sneak attack across a
stretch of ocean to the west of Hawaiian
Gardens. The United States — and
Hawaiian Gardens — would be thrust into
a spiral of economic growth as a result of
Uncle Sam going to war!
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War!

The population booms and Hawaiian

Gardens establishes an identity

It was a quiet winter Sunday in Hawaiian Gardens when
the radio interrupted programing and blurted the news of the
Japanese attack on Pear| Harbor. It was only 18 days before
the Christmas of 1941, but thoughts of celebration were
pushed far from the minds of virtually all Americans.

Within days, Hawaiian Gardens residents were draping
windows with dark cloth to prevent enemy aircraft from
zeroing in on light at night. A Japanese attack on the
California coast was thought to be a certainty. When a
Japanese submarine surfaced off Santa Barbara a few
months later and began shelling the town, the whole state
was ordered to observe radio silence. The order lasted for
less than a day, but the fear of invasion stayed with us.

A few days after the Santa Barbara shelling, Hawaiian
Gardens residents awoke during the night to the sound of
anti-aircraft batteries firing on unidentified aircraft over Los
Angeles County. The aircraft were never identified, and the
results were inconclusive. Japanese-American families were
taken from their homes, moved inland and kept like
prisoners in concentration camps. Long lines formed outside
Armed Forces recruiting offices. Our country was at war!

What years of federal and state programs couldn’t do, the

Japanese accomplished in just a few minutes: the
Depression was over. As more and more men and women
donned uniforms, workers became as scarce as jobs were a
few years prior. People swarmed into the Hawaiian Gardens
area to work in nearby aircraft assembly plants. Tents
sprang up south of Carson Street when the number of
families surpassed the number of houses available.
Hawaiian Gardens was growing again!

Along with the war came rationing. You needed coupons,
or “points,’”” to buy gas, meat, butter, sugar ... almost
anything our Armed Services used. People were encouraged
to save cans, rubber articles, metal foil and paper. People
studied silhouettes of enemy aircraft ... just in case!

Hawaiian Gardens was better off than a lot of communities
during the war because many items in short supply were
being produced right here. *’| remember | used to raise a lot
of rabbits, with the meat shortage,’”” Edmond Roah said. ''We
never needed any meat because we had lots of rabbits and
chickens to eat.” The local dairies were struggling to
increase their butterfat output, and everybody had at least a
“victory’’ garden.

Rationing caused some unique problems too. When an
Artesia grocer advertised in the Artesia News in 1944 that
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Despite reoccuring floods, business went on ... though not necessarily as usval!

certain items had been taken off the ration list, 'peas’” was
inadvertantly printed as “'pears.’”” According fo newspaper
reports, scores of people descended on the market,
’smacking their lips.”” One lady drove from Long Beach at
the prospect of buying pears without “points.”

Also in 1944, a minor mystery was solved and Hawaiian
Gardens gained a celebrity. Martha Godfrey wrote a song
called "And Just to Think’' and submitted it that summer to a
radio program for amateur song writers called ““A Song is
Born.’* She was living in Long Beach at the time, and soon
moved to a small farm in Hawaiian Gardens. Her song won
the weekly contest, but the radio station was unable to
contact the winner! And for the first time since the program
began, Mrs. Godfrey didn’t listen to the program the night
she won. It took a while, but through newspaper stories and
an alert neighbor, Mrs. Godfrey finally received her glory
and a $25 War Bond prize!

1944 was also a year for floods. Coyote Creek left its banks
in February and inundated the Hawaiian Gardens area. By
July of that year, Hawaiian Gardens residents were doing
something about it.

A delegation from the area met in special session with the
Artesia Chamber of Commerce to plead for flood control and
bus transportation. Headed by Mrs. M.H. Zeller, the
delegation outlined the special problems faced by the
residents south of Artesia.
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"We're virtually isolated,”” Mrs. Zeller said, '‘as we're
nearly two miles from nearest transportation.’”” She
explained that most men in the area were engaged in war
work and needed the family car. That left the wives limited to
as far as they could walk.

Mrs. Zeller also called for a special effort to control Coyote
Creek. The Chamber assured her the proposal was before the
County Supervisors and a project would be incorporated to
solve the problem completely. It wasn’t until 1964, however,
that Coyote Creek was tamed completely.

Hawaiian Gardens residents went to Artesia to solve their
problems because, at the time, they were considered part of
Artesia. They even had an Artesia mailing address. But as
the area grew, so did the residents’ awareness of being a
separate community. And on December 15, 1944, a contract
was awarded to Scherrer’s Market in Hawaiian Gardens for
the community’s first post office. Letters would still be
delivered through Artesia, but Hawaiian Gardens was "
starting to be recognized as a special area separate from
other towns.

That recognition of Hawaiian Gardens as a community in
its own right would continue to grow as the community grew.
The post-war building boom would add to the population ...
and before long, Hawaiian Gardens residents would begin
thinking of Hawaiian Gardens as a city!
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PART TWO

Sculpting a City
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Hawaiian Gardens, Inc.

The battle to become a city

is won ... and the work begins

A mushroom cloud at White Sands, New Mexico —and then
two more in Japan — put a sudden end to World War 11, But
the drive and energy needed to wage war on a global scale
couldn’t be turned off so quickly. American men and women
returned from Europe and the Pacific, donned civilian
clothes, and led our war-time economy into a post-war boom!

Hawaiian Gardens kept pace with the boom as tract homes
sprang up south of Carson Street. The real estate developer
who built the homes named the tract ‘“Hawaiian Gardens.”
People began thinking of Hawaiian Gardens as a place in its
own right. Not Artesia South or Lakewood East or a fringe
area of Long Beach, but Hawaiian Gardens — a separate
community.

Not everyone, however, wanted Hawaiian Gardens to be a
separate community. In the early 1950's, Artesia made a
move to annex Hawaiian Gardens. A number of Hawaiian

Gardens residents met at Bloomfield School to discuss the
proposition.

“There was quite a go-around,’”” Lee Ware recalled, “and
everybody was standing up and saying should we go and
become a part of Artesia or not. That was a heck of a long
time ago, but even then it was decided that we would go it
alone.”

Hawaiian Gardens residents countered Artesia’s
proposition by launching a drive fo incorporate as a city.
““The first incorporation movement took in everything
including El Dorado Park, off as far as Del Amo Boulevard
and the Orange County line, and to the river or about that
area,”” Ware said. “’"We had the petitions all taken care of and
plenty of people signed up. Everything was all set.”*

At the last moment, though, everything became upset! The
owners of the land where El Dorado Park is now withdrew
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candidates for the same office are to be elected, stamp a cross (4) after the names of all the
candidates for that office for whom you desire to vote, not to i h , the ber of
candidates who are to be elected. To vote for a person not on the ballot, write his name under
the title of the office in the blank space left for that purpose. All marks, except the cross ()
are forbidden. All distinguishing marks or erasures are forbidden and make the ballot void.
If you wrongly stamp, tear or deface this ballot, return it to the inspector of election and ob-
tain another. On absent voter ballots mark a cross (4) with pen or pencil.

FOR INCORPORATION FOR CITY COUNCIL

AGAINST INCORPORATION

Vote for Five

ANN ANDERSON DAVIS |
Real Estate Broker !
R

VENN W. FURGESON

FOR NAME OF CITY Vote for One Plastering Contractor

ROBERT G. LEACH

IF THE PROPOSED CITY IS IN- rarat

CORPORATED, SHALL IT BE
KNOWN AS THE CITY OF
HAWAIIAN GARDENS?

ROBERT (BOB) LEE
Paint Hardware Merchant

KENNETH L. McERIDE

IF THE PROPOSED CITY IS IN- Purchasing Agent

CORPORATED, SHALL IT BE
KNOWN AS THE CITY OF
EL DORADO PARK?

————

LOIS E. RYDALCH
Homemalker

~ GLEN 0. TURNER
Mechanic

LEE WARE
Real Estate Broker

Supervisor Frank Bonelli (photo above) presents
incorporation election papers to Lee Ware, one of
the chief promotors of the drive to make
Hawaiian Gardens a city. At left is a sample of
the ballot area residents marked to decide if
Hawaiian Gardens should be a city, if it should
retain the name Hawaiian Gardens and who
should be the new city council.
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Supervisor Frank G. Boneli presented certificates of election to Hawaiian Gardens’ first city council in 1964. Pictured (left
to right) are Venn Furgeson, Robert Leach, C. Robert Lee, Glen Turner and Lee Ware.

their signatures and signed against incorporation. The first
try at making Hawaiian Gardens a city was blocked, and
before a second one could be organized, Hawaiian Gardens
residents had to fend off an attempt by Long Beach to loop
the area with its boundaries ... supposedly fo establish a
dump here.

About a year later, another fry at incorporation was
launched — taking in a smaller area than the first try — but
that was blocked by a group of residents north of Carson
Street. “‘We never could figure out exactly why they stopped
it,’* Ware said, “’but when Lakewood tried to annex the area
later, the people that stopped incorporation the second time
turned right around and helped us with Lakewood.”

"“The city manager of Lakewood,’”” Ware said, ‘‘came out
flat and told us that if Lakewood annexed the area, it would
be a minimum of 12 years before Hawaiian Gardens got a
complete set of streets. We had determined in talking to the
people in Long Beach that it would probably be 50 years if we
waited for them to do it.”” That's what the drive to
incorporate Hawaiian Gardens as a city was all about: home
rule and a belief that things could be done more quickly.

“You'd have to give credit to the Lion’s Club for what
triggered the whole thing,”” Ware said. As Ware remembers
it, the Lion’s Club owned a piece of property on which they
wished to build a clubhouse. The property was zoned for
agriculture, and because Hawaiian Gardens was an
unincorporated area, the club members had to go to the Los
Angeles County Board of Supervisors to apply for re-zoning.

""The property had three or four sheep on it to keep the
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weeds down,’’ Ware said, ““and after we went through all the
regamaroe L.A. County demands for a re-zoning, we were
told that sheep on the land was good and they wouldn’t
change the zone for us.”

The next day, Lee Ware and Jack Leaf— on the advice of a
well-known local lawyer — began recruiting signatures to
help pass the petition. This time it worked. On March 31, 1964,
Hawaiian Gardens residents went to the polls to decide the
issue. They had to choose between incorporating as a city or
remaining a county area; if incorporated, between the
proposed city names of ““El Dorado Park’ or ‘“Hawaiian
Gardens;”’ and, if incorporated, from a field of eight
candidates for the five city council seats.

By the first week in April the results were known. The 75th
city in California was Hawaiian Gardens — by a 182-80
margin. The city name, borrowed from that palm-thatched
fruit stand long ago, won out by a narrow 164-128 vote. Less
than a half square mile in area, and with an estimated 3,300
population, it was the smallest city in the state. Lee Ware,
Robert Leach, Venn Furgeson, C. Robert Lee and Glen
Turner were the top five candidates and became Hawaiian
Gardens’ first city council.

The battle to incorporate was won. Hawaiian Gardens was
finally a city, officially sanctioned to determine its own
destiny. But wilh that freedom came responsibility. There
was now no far-off county office that could be blamed for
poor streets or inadequate sewers or a lack of public
services. It was up to the people of Hawaiian Gardens to get
the jobs done. And there was a lot of work to do.



To Work with a Vengence...

The new city council gets down
to the business of running a city

Hawaiian Gardens’ new city council wasted no time getting
to work. On April 14, 1964, with the ink from the city’s charter
barely dry, the council held its first meeting in a small
building on Norwalk Boulevard. Lee Ware was selected as
mayor, with Robert Leach as mayor pro tem. The council
appointed a city treasurer, clerk and attorney. They named
the County Engineer as city engineer, the County Sheriff as
chief of police and the County Forester as city fire chief.
They permitted the sale of ‘’safe and sane’’ fireworks and
outlawed palmistry!

In the following months, the thousands of tiny cogs and
wheels needed to run a city machine were set in motion. A
business license was established for the city. The' Southern
California Gas Company received the city gas franchise. A
local bank was chosen as a fund depository and the city
entered into an agreement with the Los Angeles County
Recreation and Parks Department for recreational services.

By the end of the year, the business district had 54 new
street lights to provide safety and convenience to evening
shoppers. With the help of the council, the Artesia,
Bloomfield and Carmenita school districts joined to form the
ABC School District. Those cogs and wheels, though, just
keep the city machine in motion. The machine is there to

solve the problems of residents. And Hawaiian Gardens
residents had a few problems to be solved!

At the time of city incorporation, virtually all of Hawaiian
Gardens’ streets were dirt. Not only did the rain bring floods,
it brought mud that made sireets often unusable. Carson
Street and Norwalk and Pioneer Boulevards were the only
paved roads. The council got busy.

In August of 1964, the council passed a special gas tax, the
revenue from which was earmarked for street improvement.
Plans immediately began for the pavement of Verne Street.
In September of 1964, the council promised to pave Belshire
Street if the street’s residents could cooperate in installing
curbs and gutters. One by one, the council singled out the dirt
streets and moved in. Virtually all streets south of Carson
Street between Norwalk and Pioneer Boulevards were paved
within the first few years after incorporation. Before the city
was five years old, nearly all streets in Hawaiian Gardens
were paved. That beat the timetables projected by Lakewood
and Long Beach if Hawaiian Gardens joined their cities ... by
decades!

Although today we may take smooth, paved roads for
granted, Hawaiian Gardens residents then didn’t. Lupe
Cabrera vividly recalls when the streets were finally
finished. “’We didn’t have a reason to go out in the car,” he
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Ibex Street before it was paved.

223rd Street and Norwalk Boulevard from Ibex Street.
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Solving the drainage problems on 223rd Street (top) was just one of the accomplishments of Hawaiian Gardens affer
becoming a city. Paving residential streets (above) was another!




said, ‘but we'd get out there and get in the car and try it on
for size; seeif it worked! Everybody was getting in their cars
and driving up and down the block, trying out the street. It
was really something. It was just like somebody that hasn‘t
had a pair of shoes, and put their new shoes on to see if they
fit."”

The work wasn’t done once the streets were paved, though.
Maintaining and improving the streets was a constant
project that continues even today. Curbs, gutters and
sidewalks had to be installed. Major streets have to be
widened to handle increased traffic flow, and old streets have
to be re-paved.

One current project is the improvement of Carson Street.
Center dividers are being installed on the heavily traveled
street to improve safety, and it is also being landscaped to
provide a more pleasing view. Traffic signals on Carson
Street are in the process of being interconnected to allow for
smoother traffic flow.

The problem of muddy roads following winter rains was
solved! But winter rains brought more than muddy roads to
Hawaiian Gardens in the early years. They brought floods.

Living in Hawaiian Gardens had always meant living with
floods. According to George Wright, former owner of the
Artesia News, At best, even during the ‘dry’ season, the
water table was so high that postholes dug one day would fill
with water overnight.”

The city began planning reconstruction of sewer systems in
October of 1964, and in March of 1965, work began on the
$142,000 Belshire Storm Drain project. County financed, the
storm drain was planned to drain the southeast and south
central portions of the city. And just a few days after the
Belshire Storm Drain project began, the Coyote Creek storm
drain stood its first test. According to the Community

Advocate, the city-county financed storm drain was in
“’silent control’’ after 1.15 inches of rain fell on Hawaiian
Gardens within two days. Coyote Creek was finally tamed!

Further insurance against floods was taken out in January
of 1971 when the city received approval for projects to relieve
drain problems at 215th and 223rd Streets. Under a 1970 storm
drain bond, Hawaiian Gardens was reimbursed for the cost
of the construction.

With Hawaiian Gardens finally placed on “’dry land,”
further commercial and residential development was
unquestionable. But there were other problems to overcome.
With increased construction came more waterlines ... and a
need for more fire hydrants.

In the city’s early years, a majority of the water systems
were private. They were constructed of various sizes of pipe,
with an assortment of fittings. It was almost impossible to
expand or repair the lines. It was necessary for Hawaiian
Gardens to establish regulations for the construction of new
lines so, as the city grew, so could its water system.

Hawaiian Gardens, again due to the private water
systermns, always had a lack of fire hydrants. The city joined
forces with the Los Angeles County Fire Protection District
and the Southern California Water Company to establish an
adequate number of hydrants throughout the city. And in
addition, there were street lights to install, stop signs to be
placed at needed corners, and even palm trees to plant in an
effort towards city beautification.

There was plenty of work for the Hawaiian Gardens City
Council todo. Taking an area from a collection of buildings to
an organized city is a monumental task. Although the names
in front of the microphones in the Council Chambers have
changed through the years, the will to build Hawaiian
Gardens into a proud, modern city has not.

A recent photograph of Norwalk Boulevard south of Carson Street (above) serves as an example of the transformation of
Hawaiian Gardens from a dirt road waystop to a modern community.




Laboring for Leisure

It takes hard work to make

off-time facilities available to citizens

In the early days of the city of Hawaiian Gardens, energy
and funds were directed to building a strong, stable base for a
more sophistocated community. The business district had fo
be improved. Streets had to be paved, sewers constructed
and plans formulated for city growth. All this in an effort to
make and keep Hawaiian Gardens a strong, vital city where
people would want to live and work.

But people play too. Even in its adolescence, Hawaiian
Gardens was well aware of that fact. In September of 1965,
the city council appointed George La Croix, Ralph Cesena,
Harold Graves, AxelWanson and Hazel Graham as Hawaiian
Gardens’ first Recreation Commission. They were charged
with bringing together several non-city recreational services
and developing new programs to meet the community’s
leisure needs.

The commission immediately launched a three-pronged
attack on the problem. They began organizing a Hawaiian
Gardens Junior Athletic Association, initiating a Teen Post
youth program and began development of Lee Ware Park.

An undeveloped parcel of excess Flood Control District
land located on Wardham Street became the future site of
Lee Ware Park. Landscaping began in April, 1966 and was

soon followed by a building donated by Robert Leach. B
summer, the park was open to Hawaiian Gardens citizen
and a Parent Participation Nursery School program was i
operation. A gala community barbecue on October 2, 196
officially christened the park ‘’Lee Ware Park’’ in honor o
Hawaiian Gardens’ first mayor.

The Teen Post program began in February, 1966. Locate
at 12440 Carson Street, it gave Hawaiian Gardens youth é
place fo socialize and hold dances. Under the direction of Jor
Barrios, and with the assistance of Jake Horn, a youth boxin
program was initiated. By September, 1966, Teen Pos
boxers were competing in Golden Gloves tournaments.

Near that same time officers for the Hawaiian Garden:
Junior Athletic Association were elected and sport:
specialists George Kelley and Phil Houseman were hired
Guided by their capable hands, flag football and winter
basketball programs were launched. By November, 194
Hawaiian Gardens earned sponsorship in the Pony-Colt an
Connie Mack baseball leagues. Youth activities were on the
upswing in Hawaiian Gardens!

But adults have leisure time too. Keeping that in mind, the
city acquired a pre-fabricated building in March, 1967 and —

Leland S. Johnson, Jack Leaf and James Alderson.
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The Lions Club was responsible for establishing Bloomfield Park. At the
County Parks and Recreation Director Norm Johnson, Lions Club President Glen Turner, County Supervisor Frank Bonelli,
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park’s ground-breaking were (from left to right) L.A.
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Local children take advantage of Clarkdale Park.

with the help of community volunteers — erected it on the
southwest corner of Bloomfield School. It was called the
Community Center, and was the focus for activities such as
the ABC Adult School, the Artesia Dental Clinic, Headstart
and Teen Post ... as well as being available for community
group use.

At that same time, Hawaiian Gardens was developing a
park on Norwalk Boulevard, known as ‘‘Catholic Church
Park.”” By June, 1967, two baseball diamonds at the west end
of the park were in place and in full use by Pony-Colt and
Little League teams. The response to the game fields was so
overwhelming, Hawaiian Gardens joined with the ABC
Unified School District and built additional fields near
Killingsworth Junior High School. ““Catholic Church Park*!
was officially designated *’Billy Milford Park’’ on October 22,
1967 at a five-day Luau and carnival. Profits from the
festivities went to various youth organizations.

As the city of Hawaiian Gardens grew, so did ifs
recreational programs. Teen Post programs were expanded,
trees were planted in several locations and six mercury
vapor lamps were installed at Lee Ware Park. The King
Conference of Pop Warner Football was formed in Decem-
ber, 1968 for the city’s youth.

By March, 1969, Hawaiian Gardens had joined with the
YMCA and Lakewood fo provide recreational swimming at
Artesia High School. A section of Billy Milford Park was
being used by the Golden West Football for Youth program
and recreational services were available at Furgeson School,
Artesia High School and Lee Ware Park.

Two classrooms and a play area in Lee Ware Park were
dedicated to the Headstart program in January, 1970 — and
Girl Scout Troop 105 planted a tree in the park in honor of
William “'Pop’’ Furgeson. Recreational opportunities were
growing for Hawaiian Gardens citizens and their children,
thanks in part to a growing cooperation between the city and
the YMCA.

In the summer of 1970, 55 Hawaiian Gardens children were
able to attend Camp Oaks under the YMCA’s summer
program. That same summer, Bloomfield School was added
to the city’s list of summer recreational sites and community
volunteers installed lighting on the newly established Billy
Milford Park football field.

A candy easter egg hunt was held in the spring of 1971 —
Hawaiian Gardens’ first community event! Another first that
year was an all-city girls track and field event which sent
winners to an AAU-sanctioned meet later in the year.

The Teen Post lost funding in 1972, but recreational ex-
pansion continued. Hawaiian Gardens entered into a |ease
agreement with the California Division of Highways to
acquire the land at 223rd Street and Pioneer Boulevard.
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Developed under the Housing and Urban Development
“Legacy of Parks’’ program, the land became Pioneer Park
in November, 1972. Those same government funds also
purchased land at the corner of 221st Street and Clarkdale
Avenue, developed into Clarkdale Park and dedicated to the
memory of Joyce Ann Huff on November 19, 1973.

Hawaiian Gardens completed renovations on the Com-
munity Center in the summer of 1972 and offered a full range
of summer activities including excursions, weight training,
tumbling, basketball and complete dancing  instruction.
Services provided by the city were growing so rapidly, by the
following summer Hawaiian Gardens printed its first
recreational program brochure and mailed it to all city
residents. It also became necessary to hire a full time em-
ployee to make sure all the city programs remained
organized.

In September, 1973, Valli Shumard became Hawaiian
Gardens’ first full-time Recreation Director — and winter
activities programs were immediately launched at Hawaiian
School, Furgeson School and the Community Center. By
December the city had developed a master calendar of sports
programs which included track, cross country, softball,
baseball and soccer — as well as the established flag football
and basketball leagues! In order to assure participation in
quality sports competitions the Hawaiian Gardens
Recreation Department became a member of the South East
Municipal Athletic Association.

The next year saw the Recreational Department making
purchases of major programming equipment fo improve
tumbling, dance and other programs. The first Community
Picnic and Tug-Off made a big hit that year. Other new ac-
tivities were gymnastics instruction, summer bus tran-
sportation to the beach, a Halloween Carnival, a Teen
Christmas Dance and Caroling programs. A mural project at
22017 Norwalk Boulevard was also started.

1975 was yet another year of recreational growth.
A landmark for that year was when Hawaiian Gardens
took advantage of the 1974 California State Park Bond Act,
which supplied a lion’s share of the $42,000 improvements at
Clarkdale Park.

Hawaiian Gardens recreational facilities and services are
continuing to grow, thanks to the citizens and organizations
who consistantly contribute time and money to help the city’s
leisure services fit the people’s needs. By 1977, Hawaiian
Gardens should be operating its programs and services from
a $2.5 million recreation and administration community
center complex on Pioneer Boulevard. Such a complete and
modern facility can only mean increased services to the
citizens of Hawaiian Gardens.
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The students at Bloomfield School in the early 1900’s (fop) had nothing compared to the modern facilities at Killingsworth
School today (above, right). Pictured above, left is Hawaiian Gardens Mr. Bicentennial Gary Cesena.
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A city is more than just a place on a map; a collection of
buildings and streets. What a city is and what it does comes
from the people who live and work there. Hawaiian Gardens
has been fortunate fo have several groups of citizens that,
even prior to incorporation, worked to advance Hawaiian
Gardens as a community.

Long before Hawaiian Gardens was officially a city, the
residents felt a community spirit. The fire station on Norwalk
Boulevard and the Hawaiian Gardens Community Center
were built entirely by volunteers. The Hawaiian Gardens
Lions Club, chartered in 1954, worked closely with County
officials in developing Bloomfield Park on Pioneer
Boulevard.

In fact, the Lions Club has been an asset to the community
since it began. Of the 50 businessmen that first started the
club, Marvin Gunnufson, Jack Leaf, Robert Lee, Bill
Sonneborn and Glen Turner are still active. Lee, Sonneborn
and Turner were recently honored for 22 years of perfect
attendance!

It is undeniable that the Lions Club has a place in the
history of Hawaiian Gardens. Their prime objective is ‘’sight
conservation,’” and as a result have bought an average of 30
pairs of glasses a year for children — for 22 years. They have
also provided vitamins for school children, aided the local
Dental Clinic and Boy Scout Troop, and sponsored several
youth sports teams.

In an effort to promote scholastic achievement, the Lions
Club presents a trophy to the ‘’Student of the Month’* and the
“Scholar of the Year’’ at Killingsworth School.

The Lions Club gets a helping hand in their projects from
the Hawaiian Gardens Lionettes. Organized in 1955, the
group of Lions Club wives still has three charter members on
its rolls: Frances Leaf, Virginia Lee and Shirley Roberts.
The main objective of the Lionettes is to support the Lions
Club, but the ““better halves’’ of the Lions Club have a few
projects of their own. They accompany Santa Claus on a city
tour each Christmas season, gifting children with fruit and
candy. The “'Lady Lions'’ also support needy families during
the holiday season, and present a trophy to the ‘’Outstanding
Player of the Year’' of the Cerritos Junior College football
team.

Both the Lions Club and the Lionettes have consistantly
donated their time and energy to better the Hawaiian
Gardens community ... but they’re not the only ones!

Another long-time promoter of community spirit is
Hawaiian Gardens’ Veterans of Foreign Wars Post 7243.

Chartered in 1946, and one of the most active posts in the
district, the 100-member organization boasts men who have
fought for our country from World War | to Vietnam. They
are located on Centralia Avenue, and both the post building
and the land was donated to them by Billy Milford.

The VFW is involved in a number of local and national
projects aiding veterans, from providing color guards at
military funerals to distributing food and clothing to the poor.

Post 7243 also sponsors several Little League and softball
teams, including several league champs! They consistantly
aid the local Dental Clinic and sponsor a local Girl Scout
troop.

The civic dedication displayed by the local VFW post has
distinguished them ... but they have another claim to fame.
Hanging on a wall in the post building is a painting of Marines

A Human Art

Divine Nature gave the fields,

human art built the cities— Varro
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raising the flag on Iwo Jima. Facts about the painting are
sketchy, but according to legend, the painting is on butcher
paper and was done on the scene by a war correspondant.
VFW member Lee Danials says the Marine Corps once tried
to buy the painting, and if the local post ever folds, the
painting is to be sent o Washington, D.C.

The raising of the flag is also the concern of a newer group
of citizens: The Hawaiian Gardens Bicentennial Committee.
Established by a City Council Resolution on March 26, 1974,
their prime objective was the celebration plans for our
nation’s 200th birthday. :

The Committee raised funds by holding dinners, operating
concessions and sponsoring a dunking booth at the 1975
Hawaiian Gardens Community Tug-off! Those funds went to
good use. They were used to paint house numbers on curbs to
aid emergency vehicles. The Committee also donated money
to the Artesia High School band, which enabled the students

The local fire station was built with volunteer help.

to travel fo Sacramento to give a concert on the Capitol
steps!

Aside-light to another Committee fund-raising project was
the selection of Gary Cesena as Mr. Bicentennial. The
contest, based on ticket sales, was sponsored by the
Hawaiian Gardens Lionettes.

The energetic Committee was also deeply involved in the
production of this history book. They held community teas,
where long-time residents and interested citizens could pool
their knowledge of the community. They sold business and
personal ads to offset the cost of book production too! The
Committee was dissolved on July 4, 1976.

That ““Spirit of ‘76" the Bicentennial Committee displayed
is a spirit Hawaiian Gardens individuals and groups have
consistantly displayed throughout the area’s history. They
can be given credit for what Hawaiian Gardens is today ...
and they will be responsible for what Hawaiian Gardens is in
the future.
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